**RECEIVED**

**Nov 22 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

On Writ of Certiorari to Aiken County  
Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001674

---

JOHN UPSON,

Respondent,

vs.

THE STATE,

Petitioner.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON CERTIORARI

Did the post-conviction relief judge reversibly err by finding—in a legally-erroneous manner and without factual support—defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for: (1) failing to either seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of eyewitness identification evidence or challenge the admission of that evidence during trial; (2) failing to challenge the victim’s testimony about her belief Upson had a “lazy eye” on cross-examination; and (3) failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own?

- A. Did the post-conviction relief judge err as a matter of law by finding defense counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing either to seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of the eyewitness identification evidence or to challenge the admission of that evidence during trial when—just as the post-conviction relief judge found in his order incorrectly granting relief—the victim made the identification without the involvement of any suggestive circumstances created by law enforcement, which necessarily meant defense counsel could not have been deficient for failing to challenge the identification evidence through a pre-trial hearing request or a trial objection since there were no valid legal grounds supporting such a request or objection?
- B. Did the post-conviction relief judge err as a matter of law by finding defense counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing to cross-examine Alston in some unspecified manner about testimony indicating Upson had a “lazy eye” when defense counsel thoroughly attacked Alston’s identification of Upson as the robber in an appropriate and reasonable manner throughout the trial and when no prejudice could have resulted from defense counsel’s failure to question Alston about her “lazy eye” testimony in light of the fact the jurors had a full opportunity to view Upson’s eyes throughout the trial, which enabled them to make their own determinations regarding the reliability of Alston’s testimony even without any additional questioning?
- C. Did the post-conviction relief judge err as a matter of law by finding defense counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own when the evidence the post-conviction relief judge found should have been presented by defense counsel did not yet exist at the time of trial, which meant defense counsel could not have been deficient for failing to obtain it since doing so would have been impossible under the circumstances, and, even if the evidence had somehow existed, its presentation could not have had any impact on the result of the proceeding?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December of 2013, Respondent John Upson was arrested following an investigation into an armed robbery that had occurred a few days earlier. In January of 2014, the Aiken County Grand Jury indicted Upson for one count of armed robbery and two counts of kidnapping. On April 15, 2014, a jury trial was commenced in the Aiken County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Donald B. Hocker, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the two-day trial, the jury convicted Upson as indicted. Following the verdict, the trial judge sentenced Upson to concurrent terms of imprisonment of twenty years for each of the three convictions. Upson then timely filed and perfected an appeal.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals unanimously affirmed Upson's convictions in an unpublished opinion. State v. Upson, Op. No. 2016-UP-237 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 1, 2016). Thereafter, on June 17, 2016, remittitur was issued.

Subsequent to the issuance of the remittitur, Upson timely filed an application for post-conviction relief, and, in response, the State filed a return requesting an evidentiary hearing. On May 5, 2018, an evidentiary hearing was conducted in the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas with the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the hearing, the post-conviction relief judge took the matter under advisement. Thereafter, through an order filed on July 23, 2018, and an amended order filed on August 10, 2018, the post-conviction relief judge granted Upson's post-conviction relief application. The State then timely filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, and the post-conviction relief judge summarily denied the State's motion through an order filed on August 29, 2018. Following that, the State timely initiated an appeal of the post-conviction relief judge's decision.

On appeal, the State filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court, and the Supreme Court transferred the matter to the Court of Appeals. Following the transfer of the case, the Court of Appeals granted the State's petition on November 12, 2021.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **Summary of Upson's Crimes and the Evidence Discovered During the Ensuing Investigation**

At around 10:00 p.m. on the night of November 27, 2013, Scott Hall was taking the trash outside to the dumpster behind the Captain D's restaurant he worked at in Aiken, South Carolina, when two men dressed in black clothing with bandanas partially covering their faces rapidly approached him, put a gun to his head, and forced him back into the restaurant. (App'x pp. 54-55; pp. 57-58; pp. 78-80; p. 89; p. 96). Once inside, the gunman ordered Hall to take him to the front of the restaurant where the safe was located while the other robber remained at the rear of the restaurant with Jameshia Alston, another of the restaurant's employees. (App'x pp. 52-54; p. 80). Terrified, Hall complied with the gunman's commands and led him to Devin Johnson, the restaurant's manager. (App'x p. 101). The gunman then ordered Hall to get onto the floor and directed Johnson to give him the restaurant's cash. (App'x p. 81). After that, the robbers forced Hall, Johnson, and Alston into a freezer at the back of the restaurant before rapidly absconding from the scene. (App'x p. 54; pp. 59-60; p. 66; p. 81; pp. 85-86; p. 91; p. 95).

Once the robbers were gone, Alston and the others left the freezer, and Johnson called 911 to report what had occurred. (App'x pp. 60-61; pp. 91-92). Shortly after that, officers from the Aiken Department of Public Safety responded to the scene and spoke with the restaurant's employees, who recounted the harrowing ordeal and provided general descriptions of the partially-masked robbers. (App'x p. 61; p. 68; p. 71; p. 76; p. 80; pp. 86-87; p. 92; p. 96; p. 100). Furthermore, Alston reported she recognized the robber who watched over her during the incident as a customer who had come into the restaurant a few days earlier and spoken with William Keels, another of the restaurant's employees. (App'x pp. 56-57; p. 61; p. 110; p. 112). However, Alston indicated she did not know the man's name at that time. (App'x p. 61).

At the conclusion of the investigation at the scene, Alston went home and independently began searching for the robber she recognized using the internet. (App'x pp. 56-57; p. 72; pp. 116-117). During the search, she examined Keels's Facebook page and, while looking through his list of friends on that website, instantly recognized one of Keels's friends as the robber upon seeing his picture. (App'x pp. 56-57; p. 65; pp. 73-74). Based on that, she was able to determine the robber was Upson, and she quickly alerted Detective Billy Royster of her discovery. (App'x p. 61; pp. 73-74; p. 102).

In response, Detective Royster arrested Upson in connection to the incident. (App'x pp. 102-103; p. 105; pp. 271-272). Upson was then indicted for armed robbery along with several counts of kidnapping, and he proceeded forward to trial. (App'x p. 6; pp. 273-278).

#### **Relevant Details from Upson's Trial**

During the course of trial, Alston testified for the prosecution and recounted the details of the terrifying robbery. (App'x pp. 52-77). Alston further identified Upson in the courtroom as one of the robbers, and she explained how she was initially able to identify him as one of the people involved. (App'x pp. 55-57; p. 61; pp. 65-66; pp. 72-75). Then, during defense counsel's cross-examination, Alston acknowledged she was frightened when she viewed the robber, conceded she only saw a partial view of the robber's face, and revealed she was shown a list of names as some point by the police. (App'x p. 75). However, she specifically confirmed she did not have Upson's name at the time she identified him through her independent research. (App'x p. 74). Thereafter, on redirect examination, the solicitor questioned Alston about her recognition of Upson's eyes as the robber's eyes, and she explained: "He has a lazy eye. It's kind of droopy, like that." (App'x p. 77). After that, defense counsel did not ask any further questions of the witness. (App'x p. 77).

Following Alston's testimony, Hall recounted his experiences on the night of the robbery, and, during his testimony, defense counsel questioned him about his lack of knowledge that money was actually stolen during the incident while also questioning him about his recollection of the physical appearance of the robbers. (App'x pp. 78-99). Furthermore, Detective Royster discussed the details of his investigation that culminated in Upson's arrest, and, during his testimony, defense counsel questioned him about various purported shortcomings with the investigation while further questioning him about Upson's height, which was inconsistent with Hall's description of the robbers' heights. (App'x p. 87; pp. 100-135).

Beyond that testimony, Desra Fraser, an intelligence research specialist with the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives, testified about how she assisted in the investigation by using PenLink software to analyze Upson's phone records, which had been obtained from his phone company. (App'x p. 103; p. 138; pp. 147-149). By using PenLink, Fraser indicated she generated maps of the locations where Upson was positioned when various calls were made on the night of the incident, and the maps were admitted into evidence. (App'x p. 149; p. 153). Additionally, Fraser stated some of the maps depicted "possible" movement at the time the calls were being made. (App'x p. 155). Furthermore, Fraser noted Upson's phone was used to call the Captain D's restaurant at 9:37 p.m. on the night of the crime and then was used again to call the restaurant at 9:47 p.m. with the caller identification information intentionally blocked during the second call. (App'x p. 151). Thereafter, on cross-examination, Fraser conceded she had no idea who was using Upson's phone when the calls were made. (App'x pp. 157-158). Likewise, she admitted she had no idea if the phone was actually moving during the calls. (App'x pp. 158-159).

Following the presentation of that testimony and evidence, the State rested, and defense counsel called three alibi witnesses to testify on Upson's behalf. (App'x p. 163; p. 174; pp. 183-203). During the testimony of those witnesses, one indicated he saw Upson before a comedy show that took place in downtown Aiken on the night of the incident, one indicated she saw Upson before and after the show, and the other indicated she saw Upson after the show. (App'x pp. 184-186; pp. 190-194; pp. 196-197; p. 199; p. 201). However, none reported seeing Upson during the course of the show, which purportedly began at some point after 8:00 p.m. or 9:00 p.m. and ended at some point between 10:30 p.m. and midnight. (App'x p. 194; p. 189; pp. 190-191; pp. 195-197; p. 199; p. 201; p. 203).

At the conclusion of the presentation of that testimony, the defense rested, and the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury. (App'x p. 204; pp. 210-238). During defense counsel's closing argument, defense counsel heavily relied on the testimony of the alibi witnesses in arguing Upson was not involved in the robbery. (App'x pp. 211-212; pp. 218-219). Furthermore, throughout the entirety of his closing argument, defense counsel repeatedly questioned the reliability of Alston's identification and conducted four separate demonstrations to illustrate to the jury how difficult it would have been for Alston to accurately identify Upson solely from a glimpse of the robber's nose and eyes. (App'x pp. 213-219). Conversely, during the State's closing argument, the solicitor challenged the reliability of the alibi witnesses based on their inability to provide concrete times and argued Alston's identification of the robber, whom she recognized from an earlier visit to the restaurant, was reliable. (App'x pp. 225-228; p. 230; p. 237). Furthermore, the solicitor conceded the maps of Upson's calls established Upson was downtown prior to the robbery, which was consistent with his claimed alibi, but noted the maps established he was not downtown after the robbery. (App'x p. 184; pp. 232-233).

Subsequently, at the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Upson as indicted. (App'x p. 258; pp. 279-280). The trial judge then sentenced Upson to an aggregate twenty-year term of imprisonment. (App'x p. 269; pp. 281-283).

### **Summary of the Post-Conviction Relief Proceedings**

Following an unsuccessful appeal, Upson sought post-conviction relief on a number of grounds, including on the basis his defense counsel was allegedly ineffective for failing to fully cross-examine Alston, request a pre-trial hearing about the identification evidence, object to that evidence during trial, and fully refute the State's case. (App'x pp. 352-356; pp. 357-364). In response, the State filed a return requesting an evidentiary hearing. (App'x pp. 366-371).

During the ensuing hearing, Thomas Slovenski, an expert in mobile phone forensics, testified on Upson's behalf, and, during his testimony, several maps of Upson's phone calls on the night of the incident that had been admitted during trial were introduced into evidence along with some maps Slovenski had personally generated using a more modern program than the one available to Fraser when she created the maps used at trial. (App'x pp. 380-381; p. 383; p. 386; pp. 389-395; pp. 397-398; p. 402; pp. 468-474). Relying on his maps along with his belief the robbery had occurred around 10:40 p.m. to 10:47 p.m., Slovenski opined no calls were made from Upson's phone "that encompassed the incident location at the incident date and time."<sup>1</sup> (App'x pp. 383-384). Additionally, Slovenski asserted Fraser's maps could have been better while contending the program he used, which was not available until 2015, was better than the "good" one used by Fraser. (App'x p. 386; p. 402). Slovenski further indicated his program generated maps different from the maps generated using the "old methodology," which was the "pie method," and he stated he believed the maps generated by his program were more accurate

---

<sup>1</sup> Contrary to Slovenski's belief of when the robbery occurred, the victims testified during trial it took place around 10:00 p.m. or 10:15 p.m. (App'x p. 53; p. 58; p. 79).

than Fraser's maps, which he contended could have "potentially" suggested Upson was closer to the restaurant than he might have been at various times. (App'x p. 386; p. 390; p. 402).

However, Slovenski conceded the program used by Fraser was commonly used at the time of Upson's trial, and he asserted he, in fact, would have used the "pie method" at the time of trial because "that was all that was available at that time." (App'x pp. 401-402). Furthermore, Slovenski acknowledged some of the maps generated by Fraser had the same results as his maps, and he conceded the State never suggested during Upson's trial their maps showed Upson was at the scene of the crime at the time of the robbery. (App'x pp. 387-388; p. 403).

In addition to Slovenski's testimony, Upson testified on his own behalf and, based on his view of the trial testimony, opined Alston must have had a list of names at the time she identified him during her independent investigation following the robbery.<sup>2</sup> (App'x pp. 426-431). Furthermore, he asserted Alston's identification was based on him having a "lazy eye," which he claimed was inaccurate. (App'x pp. 431-432).

Following that testimony, Grant Gibbons, who assisted defense counsel with the trial, testified for the State about his recollection of the trial and indicated the defense strategy was to assert an alibi defense.<sup>3</sup> (App'x pp. 438-440). However, he noted Upson's whereabouts could not be completely accounted for by the alibi witnesses. (App'x p. 440). Additionally, Gibbons indicated they reviewed the phone records, which he stated would have been meaningful only if they placed Upson at the scene of the crime, with a knowledgeable attorney to prepare for trial, and he stated Upson admitted to them he had called the restaurant before the robbery, which was

---

<sup>2</sup> Significantly, during his testimony, Upson also *confirmed* Alston's account of seeing him at the restaurant just days before the robbery. (App'x p. 427).

<sup>3</sup> Notably, defense counsel had moved to Colorado by the time of the hearing, was not present for it, and was not permitted to testify by telephone following an objection from Upson. (App'x pp. 376-378).

reflected in the records. (App’x p. 151; pp. 441-442; pp. 446-447). Furthermore, in regard to the identification evidence, Gibbons explained no challenge was raised to it because no government action was involved in the out-of-court identification, which meant there was no basis upon which to challenge it. (App’s pp. 442-444; p. 450). Likewise, Gibbons disagreed with Upson’s interpretation of Alston’s testimony, and he noted defense counsel thoroughly challenged Alston’s identification to the jury in a “really effective” manner by demonstrating the difficulty in identifying people just from their eyes and noses. (App’x pp. 442-444; pp. 452-453).

Thereafter, once all the testimony and evidence had been introduced, the parties made their arguments for and against a grant of relief in Upson’s case. (App’x pp. 456-466). The post-conviction relief judge then took the matter under advisement. (App’x p. 466).

Subsequently, upon considering the matter, the post-conviction relief judge issued an order—and amended order—granting post-conviction relief to Upson.<sup>4</sup> (App’x pp. 475-493). In granting relief, the post-conviction relief judge concluded defense counsel was deficient for: (1) failing to either seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of the identification evidence or challenge the admission of that evidence during trial; (2) failing to challenge the victim’s testimony about her belief Upson had a “lazy eye” on cross-examination; and (3) failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own. (App’x pp. 492-493). Furthermore, without explanation or analysis, the post-conviction relief judge concluded defense counsel’s deficiencies resulted in some undefined prejudice to Upson. (App’x p. 493). The State then sought for the post-conviction relief judge to reconsider his ruling, but he summarily declined to do so. (App’x pp. 494-508).

---

<sup>4</sup> Interestingly, there do not appear to be any substantive differences between the original order and amended order. (App’x pp. 475-493).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In post-conviction relief cases, the standard of review to be applied on appeal is directly dependent on the specific issues raised. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing a post-conviction relief judge’s factual findings on appeal, the appellate court will defer to those findings and uphold them if they are supported by any evidence of probative value appearing in the record. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); see Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018) (“Under the proper standard of review, the appellate court’s ‘view’ must be limited to whether there is probative evidence to support the PCR court’s factual findings.”). Meanwhile, when reviewing a pure question of law, an appellate court will consider such a matter de novo and is not required to give deference to the post-conviction relief judge’s rulings. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014). Ultimately, if the post-conviction relief judge’s decision is controlled by an error of law, an appellate court will reverse that decision on appeal. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

## ARGUMENT

**The post-conviction relief judge reversibly erred by finding—in a legally-erroneous manner and without factual support—defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for: (1) failing to either seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of eyewitness identification evidence or challenge the admission of that evidence during trial; (2) failing to challenge the victim’s testimony about her belief Upson had a “lazy eye” on cross-examination; and (3) failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own.**

In the case sub judice, the post-conviction relief judge concluded defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for: (1) failing to either seek a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of eyewitness identification evidence or challenge the admission of that evidence during trial; (2) failing to challenge the victim’s testimony about her belief Upson had a “lazy eye” on cross-examination; and (3) failing to challenge the State’s testimony discrediting Upson’s alibi defense with an expert of his own. To the contrary, defense counsel was not deficient in any manner during Upson’s trial, and there was no reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different but for the tactical decisions defense counsel made in carrying out his representation.<sup>5</sup> As a result, the post-conviction relief judge erred as a matter of law by finding defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective, and his ruling was legally erroneous and without factual support. The post-conviction relief judge’s grant of relief should be reversed.

### **Law Applicable to Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims**

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, the defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); see State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627 (2000) (“The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the

---

<sup>5</sup> Notably, in granting relief, the post-conviction relief judge did not specifically find there was a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different but for defense counsel’s purported errors despite the fact such a finding was necessary for a grant of relief to be warranted and proper. (App’x pp. 491-493).

United States Constitution guarantee a defendant a fair trial by a panel of impartial and indifferent jurors.”). Pursuant to that right, the defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, n. 14 (1970); see Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984) (“An accused is entitled to be assisted by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.”). Significantly though, effective assistance of counsel does *not* mean perfect or mistake-free representation. See Weaver v. Massachusetts, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1910 (2017) (“[A] defendant has a right to effective representation, not a right to an attorney who performs his duties ‘mistake-free.’ ” (citation omitted)); Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. 12, 24 (2013) (“[T]he Sixth Amendment does not guarantee the right to perfect counsel; it promises only the right to effective assistance[.]”); Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (“The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.”). Instead, it simply means assistance that was objectively reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688. Meanwhile, counsel’s assistance is considered to be constitutionally ineffective only when “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686; see Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011) (“Representation is constitutionally ineffective only if it so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the defendant was denied a fair trial.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)).

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