RECEIVED

Feb 02 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
The Honorable Diane S. Goldstein, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-001302

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment
of Tracy Fabian,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Judge Goodstein did not abuse her discretion by admitting evidence regarding sex offense charges that were ultimately the subject of a guilty plea to lesser included offenses or dismissed as part of a plea agreement, because the testimony regarding the facts of the offenses was limited and did not include unduly graphic details, and the expert testified the offenses were part of the basis for her ultimate opinions regarding Appellant's diagnosis and risk to reoffend sexually.

Appellant contends Judge Goodstein erred by allowing Dr. Gehle to testify about the factual basis of Appellant's sex offense charges and convictions because he entered Alford pleas, never admitted committing the sex acts, and one of the charges was dismissed by the prosecutor. These contentions are meritless.

Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence". Rule 401, SCRE. Even relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger that it will confuse the issues or mislead the jury. Rule 403, SCRE.

A. Alford Pleas

Appellant's ultimate claim is that his Alford pleas and continuing denial of the alleged conduct underlying his convictions and the dismissed charge (pursuant to his agreement to plea to the other outstanding charge) render the information Dr. Gehle considered unreliable and inadmissible. As he did before Judge Goodstein, Appellant is attempting to collaterally attack his guilty pleas.

"The primary thrust of the Alford decision is that a defendant may voluntarily and knowingly consent to the imposition of a prison sentence even if he is unwilling or unable to admit he participated in the acts constituting the crime." State v. Herndon, 403 S.C. 84, 742

S.E.2d 375, 379 (2013) (*citing* United States v. Morrow, 914 F.2d 608, 611 [4th Cir.1990]). “The Alford plea is, in essence, a guilty plea and carries with it the same penalties and punishments,” and it collaterally estops the defendant from litigating a civil claim based on the same facts as the criminal conviction. *Id.* at 380 (*citing* Zurcher v. Bilton, 379 S.C. 132, 666 S.E.2d 224 [2008]).

In South Carolina, an Alford plea is merely a guilty plea with the gloss of judicial grace allowing defendants to enter a plea in their best interests, and a defendant entering an Alford plea is still treated as guilty for the purposes of punishment, and is not owed anything merely because the State and the court agreed to deviate from the standard guilty plea. *Id.* at 381; *see also* State v. Fraley, 437 S.C. 135, 876 S.E.2d 703, 704-705 (Ct. App. 2022) (Alford plea carries same effect as a regular guilty plea). Judge Goodstein noted that before the court accepted his pleas, Appellant had to admit there was sufficient evidence to convict him of the offenses alleged in the indictments if the case went to trial, even if he did not want to “straight up admit it.” (8/29 TT, p. 103; R., p. ____). Appellant’s continued attempts to collaterally attack his Alford pleas are improper and unavailing, and Judge Goodstein properly ruled Dr Gehle could testify about the underlying facts of the convictions.

B. Admissibility of Evidence

Appellant acknowledges the case law holding that evidence of both convictions and unconvicted offenses is admissible in SVPA cases if they are relevant to the determination of whether the person is a sexually violent predator.⁴ *See* In re Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2003) (past criminal history is directly relevant to SVPA determination and evidence

⁴Appellant’s broad assertion (with no citation to the record) that the State argued hearsay is “always admissible” simply if an expert relied on it in reaching her conclusions takes the State’s argument completely out of context. Rather, the discussion before Judge Goodstein related specifically to experts in sexual predator cases, the State expressly acknowledged that some of the details “have to come out” and the State did not intend to offer those details. (8/29 TT, pp. 83-86; R., pp. ____).

regarding details of previous offenses is proper when directly relevant to the ultimate issue of the person's propensity to commit future acts of sexual violence); Manigo, 697 S.E.2d at 633-634 (expert may testify to matters of hearsay for the purpose of showing what information the expert relied on in giving an opinion of value); In re Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285, 287-288 (Ct. App. 2008) (experts in SVPA cases are given access to all relevant criminal offense records and reports and may testify about those records and reports that are relevant to the expert's opinions) (*citing* Corley); White v. State, 357 S.C. 1, 649 S.E.2d 172, 176-177 (Ct. App. 2007) (term "offenses" in SVPA includes both convictions and offenses not resulting in convictions). Appellant then argues those cases are distinguishable and limited by subsequent case law, particularly Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), and In the Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2020).⁵ Appellant's argument ignores some very significant aspects of the SVPA case law as well as the more recent cases.

First, Appellant's extensive attempt to "easily" distinguish this case from Ettel overlooks an extremely important fact of the case that undermines his argument. In addition to testifying about the facts of Ettel's sexual conviction and the unreported sex offenses he related to her, the expert testified about verbal information she received from law enforcement officers regarding Ettel's murder conviction in another state that indicated there may have been a sexual component to that offense as well, all of which the expert considered in reaching her ultimate opinions. *Id.* at 563. The court of appeals affirmed the admission of this testimony based on essentially the same analysis Judge Goodstein applied in this case, finding the SVPA gives experts access to all relevant criminal offense records, and the evidence at issue was relevant because the expert relied on it in evaluating Ettel. *Id.* at 562- 563.

⁵The only case Appellant attempts to distinguish from this case is Ettel.

The court further found the possibility of prejudice did not substantially outweigh the evidence's probative value, in part, because it was not the only source of the expert's diagnosis, which included Ettl's past criminal sexual conduct conviction, his statements during the expert's extensive clinical forensic interviews with him, administrative records and Ettl's record while in a sex offender treatment program. *Id.* at 563. Significantly, Dr. Gehle cited the same sources as the basis for her diagnoses in this case.

Appellant's reliance on Watson and Bilton is misplaced.⁶ The issue in both cases was the admission of expert testimony regarding scientific tests. In Watson, the supreme court reversed a products liability jury verdict, holding the circuit court erred in admitting testimony from an expert witness regarding a design flaw in the Ford Explorer, and his theory of how the single vehicle accident at issue could have been prevented. The court found the witness' testimony

⁶Appellant also cites State v. Jenkins, 436 S.C. 362, 872 S.E.2d 620 (2022), as authority for his assertion subsequent case law has changed what expert testimony is admissible in SVPA cases. The testimony at issue in Jenkins, a capital murder case, was a defense expert witness' reference to a statement a co-defendant made to the expert indicating he told the defendant to commit a different murder than the one on trial, which the trial court excluded. After an extensive discussion regarding expert testimony and hearsay, the supreme court acknowledged the excluded statement could have served a dual purpose: the improper purpose of determining whether the co-defendant in fact told the defendant to kill the victim at issue; or the proper purpose of explaining the basis for the expert's opinion the defendant was under the influence of the co-defendant at the time of the murder at issue. Stating the question of whether the trial court erred in excluding the statement was "a close question," the court affirmed the trial court's exclusion of the statement as inadmissible hearsay, finding the record was insufficient to establish an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 629-632. Initially, Jenkins is a criminal case, and the instant case is civil. See State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87, 90 (2002) (SVPA creates civil, non-punitive process for civil commitment of persons found to be sexually violent predators) (*citing In re Matthews*, 345 S.C. 638, 550 S.E.2d 311 [2001] [Act does not violate Double Jeopardy clause of federal or state constitutions because it does not constitute punishment]). Further, the purpose of Dr. Gehle's testimony had nothing to do with determining whether Appellant in fact committed the underlying offenses, which was already established as fact by his guilty pleas, but went solely to explain the basis for Dr. Gehle's opinions regarding his mental status and risk to reoffend in the future.

lacked any scientific basis and was not reliable. 699 S.E.2d at 177-179. There is no discussion in Watson regarding hearsay as a basis for excluding the expert's testimony.

As in Watson, the issue in Bilton was the admission of expert testimony regarding a scientific test a third party conducted at the expert's request. The court of appeals reversed the circuit court's admission of the evidence, finding the expert neither administered nor observed the test, and she had not reviewed the raw data from the test but relied on the report from the lab that administered it. The court held that absence a "baseline demonstration" of the test's reliability, a testifying expert cannot be a "conduit of hearsay" for someone else's scientific work. 851 S.E.2d at 445-446.

The testimony at issue here in this case did not involve the reliability of scientific tests performed by Dr. Gehle or anyone else. Thus, neither Watson nor Bilton obviate the prevailing law regarding admissibility of expert testimony about information the expert considered and relied on for purposes of reaching his/her conclusions in a SVPA case.

Appellant also contends the substance of Dr. Gehle's testimony regarding his sexual offenses was inadmissible because she failed to conduct any "independent investigation" and there was "no evidence" the allegations were true. As a threshold matter, Appellant's guilty pleas to the charges were "evidence" that substantiated the allegations.⁷ Further, requiring an expert to re-victimize the person's victims by conducting an "independent" investigation of each offense in order to reach any conclusions regarding the person's mental status and risk to re-offend sexually is completely contrary to the SVPA's stated intent to protect the public from future victimization by sexual predators.

⁷Of interest, Appellant entered an Alford Plea on the 1993 offenses, which he now claims rendered all the evidence regarding his offenses inadmissible as unsubstantiated allegations. The reality is that Appellant has never accepted responsibility for the offenses he committed against minor children, which makes him more likely to commit similar offenses in the future.

Finally, Appellant's contention that Dr. Gehle testified in graphic detail about Appellant's sex offenses is simply inaccurate. Her testimony regarding each offense was limited, and significantly, it was based not only on the official records, but on statements Appellant made to Dr. Gehle about the offenses. (8/30 TT, pp. 47-66; R., pp. ____).⁸ Appellant testified about the offenses, admitted committing the 1993 offenses, but denied committing all the other offenses. The jury was free to accept his version if it determined he was credible. See Upson v. State, Op. No. 2018-001674, 2024 WL 358032, at *5 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed January 31, 2024) (credibility of witnesses is a question for the jury, and the jury decides the weight to be afforded the testimony) (*citing* Melton v. Williams, 281 S.C. 182, 314 S.E.2d 612, 614–15[Ct. App. 1984]).

Judge Goodstein properly exercised her discretion by considering both the probative value and the prejudicial effect of Dr. Gehle's testimony regarding the basis of Appellant's sex offenses, found the probative value was high and the prejudice to Appellant did not substantially outweigh the probative value. Her ruling is supported by the record and applicable case law, and should be affirmed.

⁸Most of the cited testimony was identifying the official court documents from Appellant's sex offense convictions, and public information regarding a charge that was dismissed as part of his 2019 plea agreement. Those documents were entered into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibits 1-6.

CONCLUSION